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FOREWORD

During its fifty-three year history, the work of the Epigraphic
Survey has earned a reputation for accurate and detailed recording
that has made its publications the standard by which all other studies
of ancient inscriptions are judged. In none of its publications is the
value of its meticulous recording more apparent than in the eight
volumes of plates of Medinet Habu produced over a period of nearly
forty-five years. All too often, weathering, erosion, and vandalism
have badly damaged temple walls and some appear today to be
uninscribed, although a century ago they were well carved and even
painted. Without a Survey drawing in hand, little can be made of
the faint traces some walls preserve.

Unfortunately for scholars studying in the field, or for tourists
and students who wish to know the story of Medinet Habu, the
Survey’s publications are the antithesis of portability: standing
nearly two feet high, weighing nearly ten pounds each, they can
be used only in large research libraries. It was clear that some means
of bringing the Survey’s work to the public would be of value.

Several years ago, we discussed this problem and decided to

produce a guidebook of convenient size that would reproduce the
most important and most useful of the Survey’s drawings and have
them accompanied by an explanatory text that would both describe
the relief scenes and give a brief explanation of their subject matter.
Dr. Murnane was entrusted with producing the volume. The result
is a guidebook of unusual qualities: drawings that will make the
relief scenes clear; textual material that will explain their purpose;
plans and reconstructions that will show how the temple functioned
and why.

Medinet Habu is one of the few temples in Egypt to be completely
published; it is now the first to be treated in a handbook-guide.
We believe that both the tourist and the scholar will find United
With Eternity of value both in the field and at home, and we antici-
pate that other such guides will follow.

Kent R. Weeks

December, 1976
Luxor
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INTRODUCTION

A visitor’s first impulse on arriving in West Thebes is to look
northwards, to take in the Colossi of Memnon, the Ramesseum, and
the entire range of hills, honeycombed with ancient tombs. But just
south of this panorama is an equally imposing view: in the distance,
across the fields, rise massive walls and towers, a huge complex of
stone gleaming against mudbrick ramparts. This was the “Mansion
of Millions of Years of King Ramesses III, ‘United with Eternity
in the Estate of Amon’.” Today it is called Medinet Habu.

The complex today is a place apart in West Thebes. It is too large

to ignore, but it is often either the first or the last stop on a tourist’s -

itinerary, and visitors rarely linger. Most of the time it is a silent
place, left to its guardians, to a few melancholy vendors of faked
antikkas, and to the women who come here to bathe in the sacred
lake in hopes of conceiving children. Such neglect is a pity, for
nowhere in the sprawling perimeters of West Thebes is the spirit
of the ancient world more vividly evoked. For this is much more than
a stately pile of ruins, more than a shrine in the city of the dead, or a
monument to a bygone king’s megalomania. The visitor, if he wishes,
can peel away the husk of ritual and discover the deeply felt human
needs that went into the creation of this temple and others like it.

Ramesses IIT (c. 1182-1151 B.C.) was a relative newcomer to
the Theban burial ground. Over the past four centuries, most of
his predecessors had been laid to rest in the Valley of the Kings,
some four miles north of Medinet Habu. Servants of the crown
built their tombs on the adjacent hills to the east, and the level
ground that extended between this range and the cultivated land
was set aside for the royal mortuary temples in which kings buried

at Thebes were worshipped. This stretch of ground was crowded
by Ramesses III's time, so for his own temple the king chose a site
at the southern end of the old building area. '
Even so, there were difficulties. The “mound of Jamu,” as it was
known about this time, was a place of ancient holiness, and a small
temple built during the fifteenth century B.C. already stood there.
The king’s architects had to incorporate this venerable building into
their plan, and they were also forced to put a sharp turn in the north-
west end of their enclosure wall to bypass the neighboring temple
of King Horemheb (see fig. 3). Fortunately, the architects were
able to solve these problems without dwarfing the main project, for
Ramesses III’s temple was the most ambitious structure that had
been planned in many years. Even in its own day it had few rivals in
either size or richness. .
What purpose was served by the foundation? Some scholars
have suggested an analogy between the temple and a great house-
hold. Religious services were organized around the care and feeding
of the gods, just as the running of an estate centered on the ultimate
comfort of its owner, and the Egyptians carried out this simile in
an extraordinarily literal way. The temple compound seems to
have resembled a small town, with offices from which its far-flung
landholdings were administered, housing for the staff, and a veri-
table beehive of magazines and workshops to supply the god’s
requirements. Just as a landowner’s mansion might have its ante-
rooms, public audience chamber, and private apartments, so was
the temple laid out with semipublic forecourts leading into the
festival halls in which the rites were celebrated ; behind these, in the
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deepest recesses of the building, were the shrines in which the gods
dwelt.

The Egyptians believed that sacrificial offerings had to be made
regularly in order to ensure the gods’ continued blessing on the
community, and in practical terms this meant that the “Mansion”
had to be self-supporting: land, primarily, and manpower for essen-
tial services were the factors keeping the magazines full and the
offering tables laden. Ramesses I1I endowed his temple with a lavish
hand, and his generosity, spread over a long reign, made it an im-
portant center in the life of West Thebes.

In the normal run of events the “Mansion” would have declined
after Ramesses’ death. Its endowments would have been transferred
to other, newer establishments and the building itself might even-
tually have been used as a quarry: such, even then, had been the
fate of Amenhotep III’s great mortuary temple, of which little
beyond the Colossi now remains. But Ramesses I1I's immediate
successors reigned too briefly to displace existing foundations and,
even later, such a formidable headquarters could not be lightly
abandoned. Bands of marauding Libyans roved the countryside
under the last Ramesside Pharaohs, and in the face of the state’s
helplessness to control this menace, the population of West Thebes
often sought refuge behind the walls of the “Mansion.” Civil
disorders only added to these troubles, and by the end of the twelfth
century B.C. the whole of Upper Egypt was engulfed in civil war.
At the height of this conflict the “Mansion” was taken by storm: the
attackers breached the walls and damaged the western fortified
gate so badly that it was never repaired. When order was restored,
power had shifted into local hands and, instead of serving as
Pharaoh’s southern capital, Thebes emerged as the head of an
independent state embracing most of Upper Egypt. The ‘““Mansion,”
now the largest functioning complex in West Thebes, remained an

administrative center throughout this period, but cult services for
Ramesses TH could not have outlasted the fall of his dynasty for
very long. As of the ninth century B.C., when Theban notables
began building tomb chapels for themselves inside the compound,
humbler graves were being dug in the temple itself, mute testimony
to its revered status and current disuse.

But although the “Mansion” was now irrevocably in decline,
Amon-REg, “Primeval One of the Two Lands,” was still worshipped
in the small temple. The religious cult that centered on this building
was not dependent on a particular king or dynasty, and the eclipse
of Ramesses I1I’s temple only re-emphasized the importance of this
broader, more enduring strain of worship. Later Pharaohs, Ptole-
maic rulers, and Roman emperors contributed a series of forecourts
that gradually doubled the original building’s length and, at the
same time, the town that grew up around this temple extended the
occupation of the site beyond the fall of paganism. During the early
Christian era the Coptic town of Jéme covered the entire area:
even the great temple was filled with dwellings, and the Holy Church
of Jeme occupied its second court. This town might well have sur-
vived until the present day, but in the ninth century A.D. it was
suddenly, inexplicably abandoned. For close to a millenium it was a
ghost town, its streets empty and its name forgotten, and today only
a few of these Coptic houses survive, perched atop the crumbling
enclosure wall, to remind us of what was once a flourishing settle-
ment. Even the Arabic name of the site, Medinet Habu, is of un-
certain origin: a possible translation is “The City of Hapu,” and
some scholars have pointed out that Amenhotep, Son of Hapu—
a sage of the fourteenth century B.C. who was subsequently deified
—had his own temple nearby. His posthumous fame may have
survived this building’s decay and his name been transferred to
Ramesses I11’s establishment. This hypothesis, though attractive,
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1899 the Antiquities Service cleared the main temple, removing
the Coptic buildings inside and making the site more accessible
to visitors. In 1924, Professor James Henry Breasted secured the
concession to record and clear Medinet Habu for the Oriental
Institute. Breasted’s experience in the field had convinced him that
many of the ancient monuments were perishing before they could
be properly explored and published, and to correct this situation
he founded the Epigraphic and Architectural Surveys of Egypt.
Medinet Habu, the best preserved of the New Kingdom temples
in West Thebes, was chosen as the initial project. The Epigraphic
Survey began work on the facsimile copies of reliefs and inscrip-
tions in the great temple in 1924, while the Architectural Survey
started three years later and completed its excavation in 1933,
The resulting publications —eight volumes with a complete epi-
graphic record of the great temple and the eastern high gate, five
more dealing with the excavations, and others dealing with graffiti
and ostraca found on the site —are a mine of information for the
specialist, but the general reader is apt to find them weighty and
virtually inaccessible. It is hoped that this book will meet a long-
standing need by providing a compact guide to the site. Material
from the official publications will form the basis of this work,
and it will also be illustrated with drawings and photographs from
them.

The sections of this book are grouped in the order that might be

suggested on a visit to the site. The visitor will begin by exploring
the high gate, through which the compound is entered. The war
reliefs on the temple’s north wall will be examined next, and then
the interior of the temple proper. After leaving the temple, we shall
turn south to examine the palace and other buildings in that quarter,
saving the small temple and the Saite tomb chapels until last. This
is a practical itinerary, for the battle reliefs should be seen early
in the days and their contents should be known before entering
the temple, where some of this material is duplicated. Since I am
assuming, also, that this book will be used by readers interested in
the functioning of an Egyptian temple as well as by visitors in the
field, the descriptions are supplemented by a more general discussion
at appropriate intervals. Illustrations are intended to be representa-
tive as well as to clarify obscure points on the wall.

My writing of this book was made all the more stimulating by
conversations with George R. Hughes, Charles F. Nims and
Edward F. Wente, all past directors of the Epigraphic Survey who
spent many years at Medinet Habu. To them, and to the Survey’s
former director, Kent R. Weeks, who first urged on me the desirabil-
ity of a guidebook, I am very grateful. The site cries out for a more
extensive treatment, but I hope the readers of this book will find it
useful for what it is, and not judge it too harshly for what it is not.

Luxor, 1978
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THE APPROACH TO THE TEMPLE
AND THE HIGH GATE

The only entrance to Medinet Habu today is through the eastern
high gate. In antiquity, this gateway was reached by a canal that
brought vessels inland from the Nile, so it was the landward en-
trance, on the compound’s west side, which was perhaps more
frequently used for the comings and goings of the temple staff.
Cargos brought from afar and distinguished visitors —the gods at
their festivals and the Pharaoh —were discharged on the eastern
side. The basin where these ships moored is now buried under the
modern road, but the visitor will walk on what is left of the ancient
quay to reach the entrance. In Ramesses I1I's time this approach
had a more harmonious appearance, for the outer buildings were
then flanked only by mudbrick walls. The symmetry is spoiled today
because late additions to the Eighteenth-Dynasty temple jut out on
the right.

Flanking the entrance are two small buildings piercing a low wall
that once surrounded the temple. These probably served to house
the gatekeepers, who then, as now, controlled the admission of
visitors to the temple grounds. The single-room interiors have been
left rough, and the decoration outside (stereotyped scenes showing
the king in the presence of the gods) had barely been started before
Ramesses 111 died, leaving his successor, Ramesses 1V, to have these
reliefs carved in his own name.

The fortified entrance to the compound lies beyond these build-
ings. It is not easily typed stylistically, for although high towers are a
feature of Egyptian defenses from an early date, the broad windows

are much more typical in domestic architecture, and their presence
may be due to the dual role this building had to play. Certainly,
the fagade of the high gate is deliberately impressive: huge figures
of the king in the act of smiting Egypt’s enemies bestride the faces
of each tower, while bound figures of Egypt’s traditional foes lie
below. On the left we see Nubians and Libyans of various sorts,
while on the right (fig. 4) are Asiatic princes (Hittites and Amur-
rites, both spent forces in Ramesses 1II's day) and also semi-
nomadic peoples — Tjekker, Sherden {( = Sardinians?), Shasu,
Tiwresh, and (unfortunately covered by a later wall) Philistines. It
is likely that the purpose governing the selection of these reliefs and
their use in these places was a magical one, for the temple was a
model of the world “writ small,” and as the king repelled invaders
from the borders of Egypt, so were the forces of chaos prevented
from engulfing the world, and the temple with it.

This eastern high gate and its western counterpart (destroyed
over three thousand years ago) also have serious defensive features.
The sloping plinths could keep enemies away from the walls, while
bringing them within the range of the defenders’ arrows. It could
be that the recessed doorway, with its artful impression of great
depth, served a similar purpose. The large windows, seemingly so
inappropriate for a fortress, could be closed when necessary, and
openings masked by the stone consoles of prisoners’ heads in the
passage would have been ideal for hidden bowmen. The enclosure
wall itself is about thirty-five feet thick and originally stood about
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10

bank. The king and his favorites were apparently watching the
spectacle from above, at a safe distance from the crowds that
thronged into the processional way of the temple. It was then that
conspirators, spurred on by a dissident faction in the women’s
quarters, penetrated into “that other great, high place” (i.e., the
less frequently used eastern high gate), bent on obscure but un-
mistakably mischievous purposes. In the end, the plot was dis-

covered: the culprits were caught and punished, although not before
some of the judges had disgraced themselves by “‘making a beer-
hall” with a few of the ladies who were on trial. The defendants of
higher rank were allowed to commit suicide; most of the others
suffered death or mutilation —savage penalties, exacted because
the plot had in fact succeeded. For Ramesses III had died —a victim
of poison?—Iless than a month after that festival day.
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Nubian campaign, but since these scenes are badly weathered and
are not of great interest, we can pass directly to the first Libyan war
on the north wall. This conflict, which broke out in Ramesses III’s
fifth year (c. 1180 B.C.), was yet another episode in Egypt’s aggra-
vated “Libyan problem.” The tribes on the western border had
always been troublesome, but what had been a mere irritant now
developed into a perennial menace. Not thirty years previously
(c. 1208 B.C.), Libyan tribes had allied with migrating ‘“Peoples
of the Sea” and launched a full-scale invasion of Egypt. This attack,
which the invaders hoped would give them a foothold in the fertile
western Delta, had been repulsed by the Egyptians under Merne-
ptah, but the affairs of Libya were far from settled. The defeated
tribes were still determined to achieve their long-range objective
of settling in Egypt, and the death of a chieftain of the Temeh tribe
early in Ramesses IIT’s reign gave them a fresh opportunity. The
Egyptians had apparently exercised a control over the selection of
Temeh leaders for some time, but although the Egyptian candidate,
““a little one of the land of Temeh ... appointed for them to be a
chief, to regulate their land,” was accepted by tribal elders, they
secretly formed alliances with the more westerly tribes —Meshwesh,
Libu, and Seped —that had been involved in the previous war:
“their warriors relied on their plan and their hearts waxed confident,
[saying], ‘We will advance ourselves!””
The king was probably in his Delta residence when:

Someone came to tell his Majesty, “The Tjehenu [= Libyans] are in
motion, they are making a conspiracy. They have gathered and assembled
without number, consisting of Libu-, Seped- and Meshwesh-lands, [all]
assembled to advance themselves and to aggrandize themselves against

Egypt.”

There was not a moment to lose, and the first scene (west end of

the north wall) shows the Egyptian army on the move. Above and
in front are the ranks of native militia; foreign mercenaries and
cavalry march below. The king in his chariot is outfitted with the
warlike blue crown, and a lion (to which he is often compared)
bounds alongside. In the chariot in front of the Pharaoh is the ram-
headed standard of Amon, who “opens the ways in the land of
Temeh.” The battle (see fig. 7) is shown next. As usual, the king is
depicted on a larger scale than anyone else, in keeping with the
literary conceit that he alone is worth a whole army. Distinctive
details —the Sherden mercenaries clubbing the enemy at the lower
left, the flight of the vanquished above (fig. 7)—stand out, but the
confused tangle of this scene is quite deliberate.

More interesting is the next scene, showing the assemblage of
captives and spoil. This relief is in poor condition, but we can see
the king facing his army from behind a portable reviewing stand.
A model fortress above his chariot represents “the Town of Rames-
ses III, who has repulsed Temeh,” probably campaign head-
quarters on the border. The bound prisoners are led in from the
right, while in front the scribes are busily taking a rather gruesome
count (see fig. 8): piled before them are the hands and genitals of
the slain, allowing the enemy’s losses to be computed. For centuries
it had been customary for soldiers to bring in such trophies: they
were rewarded with gold on the spot, with land and slaves eventually
following. The totals as given here are somewhat confusing: each
of the five piles accounts for over 12,500 items, and if we take all
these figures seriously we arrive at over 38,000 hands, but only
25,000 phalluses. These are improbably high figures: the great
invasion under Merneptah had yielded only 9,300 enemy casualties,
although the invading force seems to have been larger. Fortunately,
we are able to compare this scene with another version of the same
event in the second court of the temple. The figures are rounded off
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trast, illustrating a tendency to harmonize two opposites (which is
fundamental to Egyptian thought), we will see reflected throughout
the plan of the temple.

As we have seen before, the Egyptians regarded their monuments
as being charged with magical power, and the temple’s facade is
seen as a protective barrier. In both large scenes, the gods present
the king with a curved sword that symbolizes strength in battle,
and behind them are rows of small bound figures representing
Egypt’s conquered enemies: these figures are human only down to
the waist, their lower quarters being replaced by an oval shield
(really the ground plan of a fortress) inside which the name of a
country or people is written. By this time such groups of name-
rings did not reflect the actual state of the Egyptian empire, for the
Nubian and Asiatic name sequences are borrowed from earlier
lists of Thutmosis III (1504-1450 B.C.) and Ramesses II (1279-
1212 B.C.) respectively. In the set speeches inscribed above these
scenes, the gods promise to strike terror into the king’s enemies,
and they invoke the power of other gods (such as the warrior deities
Seth and Montu) in his defense. Clearly, the pylon was seen as the
last barrier between the world-image contained in the temple and
the chaos outside. Even the four flagmasts seem to have been
dedicated to protector deities: those closest to the doorway on
either side—Isis (south) and Nephthys (north)—represent the
mother and aunt of the falcon-god Horus, who concealed him from
his enemies until he grew up and claimed his rightful lordship over
Egypt. The outer pair—Nekhbet (south) and Wadjyt (north)—
represent Upper and Lower Egypt, and these goddesses are seen
often in reliefs, extending protection above and behind the king.
Since ali these deities enjoyed a special relationship with the ruler

(the first of whose titles is “Horus”), it is not surprising to find them
standing guard over the processional way into the temple. .

Before entering the temple, a few words should be said about the
other inscriptions carved onto the face of the pylon. On each of the
towers a huge tablet is laid out in the space between the flagmast
niches. The northern tablet contains a “poem” on the second
Libyan war, dated to Ramesses’ twelfth year, while on the south
side is the “blessing of Ptah”: the god here acknowledges the king
as his son and promises him (among other things) a long reign,
wealth, and victories. Ptah, Lord of Memphis, was honored during
the late New Kingdom alongside Amon of Thebes and RE& of
Heliopolis, and his presence here completes the roster of premier
gods at Medinet Habu. Two smaller stelae flank the doorway into
the temple. Both are dated to year twelve and both, in their different
ways, glorify Ramesses II1. The southern stela extols the king’s
triumph over invaders and the magnificence of his temple. The
northern stela is more interesting, for it is cast in the form of a speech
made by Ramesses to his courtiers in which he stresses his legitimacy
and urges them to remain loyal. Kings of Egypt did not normally
have to justify their position, as Ramesses does here, by saying,
“I did not take my office by robbery, but the crown was set on my
head willingly.” We must remember that, at this time, the dynasty
was less than fifteen years old: Ramesses IIT’s father, Sethnakht,
had seized the throne in about 1184 B.C., when the country had been
left in the clutches of a Syrian upstart following the demise of the
last member of Ramesses II's family. Since this coup had had the
support of Egypt’s civil administration, neither Sethnakht nor his
heir were regarded as usurpers; but Ramesses III must have felt
that some timely loyalist propaganda would do his cause no harm.
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THE FIRST COURT: THE HALL OF
ROYAL APPEARANCES

The massive portal through which we enter the temple was
originally equipped with two gates. This seems to have been a
practical necessity, for the main door was an immense, single leaf
of wood that could not have been moved frequently during the day.
It probably stood open much of the time, resting on the north side
of the passage against a decorative pattern that is termed the
“Shadow of the Door.” Privacy was secured by closing a smaller
gateway. This doorway originally lay outside the main portal,
and on entering the passage, the visitor can see remains of its jambs
at either side. After the siege of Medinet Habu, however, the smaller
door was relocated at the other end of the passage and the original
version chiseled away. Both were double doors, opening inward,
and the absence of a Shadow of the Door in either case suggests
that they did not stand open for very long.

Even though the visitor now enters a space enclosed by four walls,
the impression created by the first court is pleasingly open. Its
layout, with its maximal standing room, cannot have been for-
tuitous, for this was the forecourt not only of the temple, but of the
adjoining royal palace as well. The columned portico of that
building, on the south side, is balanced by seven immense pillars
to the north, each of which is engaged with a gigantic statue of the
king facing south, towards the palace. These statues were mostly
destroyed by the Copts, and only in the northwest corner is enough
preserved to convey an impression of the whole. The king is seen
barelegged and garbed in a kilt with a falcon-pommeled dagger

21

thrust into his belt. His arms are crossed, and he holds the crook
and the flail, symbols of his sovereign power. On his head is an
elaborate version of the plumed and horned Atef-crown, with an
anagram of the king’s throne name, “Userma‘atre,” worked into
the design. At the king’s sides are two smaller figures of a prince
and a princess, but they are not identified by name. Although these
statues are sometimes referred to as Osiride figures, everything
seems to speak against this interpretation. The king as pictured here
is in the full vigor of life, his appearance far from resembling the
shrouded god of the dead. Osiris is not the only god who can wear
the Atef, moreover, and the inscription on the base of one of the
statues refers to this image as being “‘the sovereign, beautiful as
king on the throne of Atum and wearing the Atef like Re-Harakhty.”
All these inscriptions stress the king’s active role and his relation-
ship with other gods, so he is clearly to be viewed here as the arche-
type of Egypt’s divine king.

Some of the reliefs in the first court duplicate material we have
encountered outside. On the south half of the east wall, the king is
shown pursuing fleeing Libyans and receiving the prisoners and
spoil after the battle; above these scenes and extending onto both
towers of the pylon is a description of the second Libyan war.
On the west wall opposite, Ramesses presents captives from the
Sea Peoples to Amon-Re& and Mut, while on the face of the second
pylon’s north tower a long inscription recounts the campaign in
year eight. On the north wall (lower register), he storms a fortress
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may represent the diplomatic corps join in a chant, “You are like
Montu, O Pharaoh —live, prosper, be healthy —our good lord!
Amon has overthrown for you those foreigners who came to exalt
themselves!” Here again, thinly disguised, is the eternal theme of
Egypt maintaining itself against its enemies because of the king’s
relationship with the gods.

A number of doorways besides the main entrance to the temple
give access into the first court. These side doors were single-leaved
and opened inwards, so that the doorleaf rested against one side of
the passage that can easily be identified by the stereotyped “Shadow
of the Door” pattern. The space not covered by the door is
taken up with other inscriptions or scenes that sometimes hint at
the purpose the doorway served. The door in the north wall, for

~
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instance, shows Ramesses HI offering food to Amon and Mut on
the east side of the passage, while beside the Shadow of the Doorisa
short inscription that emphasizes the richness of the king’s offerings
to the gods. In all probability, then, the supplies of food and drink
for the daily sacrifices entered through this doorway. There are
similar indications attached to the doorways through the south
wall: they are most easily approached from the palace and will be
discussed below in that context, but we can say that the doors east
and west of the Window of Appearances were used by the king
during the Feast of Opet and the Feast of the Valley respectively.
A third doorway at the west end of the south wall has only gener-
alized scenes and texts, so it may have been the normal means of
ingress from that end of the court.
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THE SECOND COURT

Although the second court is actually larger than the first, it seems

much less spacious. Part of the reason is that it is surrounded by
colonnades: on the north and south are single rows of papyrus-bud
columns, while the east and west sides feature pillars with engaged
statues that show the king as the mummified Osiris. The western
colonnade, moreover, is elevated and forms a portico with a row
of papyrus columns behind the pillars. There are two side entrances
into this court: the door located at the north end of the portico may
have been another passage for offerings, while the south door gave
access to a well from which, in Ramesses I1I’s time, the pure water
required for the temple services was drawn.

During the period of Coptic occupation, the Holy Church of
Jeme was located in this court, and many details of the Pharaonic
building were destroyed at this time. The Osiride pillars are the
most conspicuous loss and only the bottom halves of the northern-
most pair survive, perhaps because they were out of sight and did
not scandalize the congregation. The graceful appearance of the
masonry screens separating the portico from the court can similarly
be gauged only from the examples preserved on the north and south
ends. The central column of the north colonnade was dismantled
to make room for the apse of the church, and almost parallel, in
the southern half of the court, are the remains of a baptismal font.
The reliefs, fortunately, were only blotted out by whitewash and
are consequently well preserved, with their colors virtually intact.

The second court was the ““festival hall” of the temple. This
function is reflected in the decoration of the walls, and only the battle
reliefs in the lower register of the south half (episodes from the first
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Libyan war and a long inscription on the campaigns of years five
and eight) break up the overall theme. The Medinet Habu calendar,
inscribed on the south exterior wall of the temple, names over sixty
festival days in the year, most of them occurring on fixed dates in the
Egyptian civil calendar, the rest being governed by the phases of
the moon. On all of these occasions the king (or his representative)
celebrated the feast, satisfying the gods in the name of the com-
munity so that Ma‘at, “right order,” would continue to exist and
that the natural order would not be disturbed and men might expect
to enjoy the good life on both sides of the tomb. The dual triumph
of the king and the god, a feature of so many Egyptian rituals,
ensured the continuity of their reciprocal relationship and guaran-
teed the stability of their universe.

Some of these ideas are reflected in a general way on the lower
register in the north half of the court. In the corner, on the east end
of the north wall, the king stands between Horus and Seth (fig. 18):
each god holds over the king’s head a vase from which issue, not
streams of water, but signs meaning ‘““life” and “dominion,” and
they recite a spell:

I have purified you with life, stability and dominion; your purification
is the purification of Thoth {var. “Dewen-anwy”’] and vice-versa.

These gods are the masters of the four corners of the universe
and the king both absorbs magical power from these quarters and
extends his watchful regard towards them. This rite, which enabled
the king to participate in ritual as a god, was perhaps performed
in a little room that was built in this corner after the second court
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off the first hypostyle hall. It could be that these festivals are shown,
not because of their importance at Medinet Habu, but because
they display significant, if contrasting, aspects of the being who was
worshipped there. We will return to this question once the two
feasts have been discussed in detail, beginning here with the festival
of Sokar.

The reliefs at Medinet Habu concentrate on one climactic day
of the Sokar Feast. But the Calendar, outside the temple, introduces
the offering lists for each day with a brief descriptive heading,
and with the aid of other sources we can reconstruct the progress
of the entire festival. The first five days (not shown at Medinet Habu)
involved the preparation of “Osiris Beds,” wooden frames in the
shape of the god which were lined with linen, filled with Nile silt
and planted with grain. The opening day at Medinet Habu, called
“Opening the Aperture in the Shetayet Shrine,” perhaps consisted
of uncovering the light-well in the roof, causing the grain to ger-
minate. The Sokar Feast took place officially on the eve of the
planting season, and this act of sympathetic magic not only illus-
trated the idea of resurrection embodied in the agricultural cycle,
but ensured a good harvest in the coming year. Next came the “Day
of Hoeing the Earth,” partly an agricultural ritual, but given added
meaning by Sokar’s assimilation with Osiris: as a primordial ruler
of Egypt, Osiris was believed to have been murdered by his brother
Seth. According to the Book of the Dead, Osiris was subsequently
vindicated before a divine tribunal and the earth was hoed with the
blood of his enemies. The next three days, “Making Way in the
Shetayet,” “Placing Sokar in their Midst,” and “Deification [?]”
also seem to belong with Sokar’s Osiride aspect, perhaps represen-
ting his embalming and entombment, and culminating with the
infusion of new divine power into the dead god.

On the dawning of the sixth day came the “Day of the Festival

29

of Sokar” proper. This, contrasting with the temple-bound ritual
that preceded and followed it, was a popular holiday: the inhabi-
tants of the workers’ village at Deir al-Medina took the day off,
as was probably true for everyone who lived in West Thebes. The
reliefs begin at the west end of the south wall, moving east and around
the corner for the closing rites. The first three episodes, which took
place at dawn within the temple, are expanded versions of the nor-
mal morning ritual: a special “menu” was set out for the god’s
consumption, illustrated (1) by Ramesses III’s presenting of a
heaped platter before the hawk-headed Sokar-Osiris. Behind the
god are two groups of deities, “the Great Ennead that is in the
Shetayet,” representing Sokar’s companions from Memphis, and
“the Ennead residing in the Great Mansion,” i.e., Medinet Habu
itself. The usual reversion of offerings took place next and aspects
of this ceremony seem to be illustrated in the next two scenes. In
the first (2) we see the king censing three of Sokar’s Memphite
associates: “Khnum Foremost of his Walls,” “He who is upon his
Bearers,” and “Shesmu, Foremost of the Perwer Shrine,” the god
of the winepress. These gods are associated with Osiris either as
fertility figures or as protectors, and as such may have been co-opted
into Sokar’s feast.

The scene is now transferred (3) to the chapel of the Henu-bark,
Sokar’s portable shrine, which was also occupied by the statue of
the god that is shown here. The fully activated statue was now placed
inside the bark shrine, which was installed on the archaic Mefekh-
sledge. While this was being done, the king (or a priest representing
him) recited the Litany of Sokar, invoking the god in all his mani-
festations, while “performing the Offering Which the King Gives
[Ritual] and setting up braziers.”

The public ceremonies could now begin. The bark of Sokar was
borne out of the temple (4) on the shoulders of the priests (Fig. 20).
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heaven, so that the god may come forth,” welcomes Sokar as a
manifestation of the Nile who brings plenty. Immediately following
are the barks of five Memphite goddesses, each accompanied by
its own small Nefertem standard, who play assisting roles in the
triumph of Ma‘at in both Osirian and solar mythologies. The
festival leader is seen in the lower row, leading the procession, and
other priests are seen bowing before his staff of office. Many of the
participants are carrying victuals to be sacrificed when Sokar returns
to the temple (upper row, right), but others (left) bear cultic emblems
— standards of the gods “who follow Sokar,” clubs, and other
things. (Is a small child’s figure in the lower row the young Horus?)

A shorter procession on the lower right side features the jackal
god, Wepwawet, with Khonsu, Horus and Thoth, the canonical
“Openers of the Ways” before the king, who follows wearing the
doubie crown of a united Egypt. The priest in front of him censes
the double uraeus-serpent on his brow—representing both the
double crown and the two goddesses, Isis and Nephthys, who pro-
tect the king as the embodiment of Horus. The hymn inscribed on
the wall, a “praising of Wepwawet by the King of Upper and
Lower Egypt,” is actually addressed to Horus by the king: as Horus
has triumphed over the forces of evil, so is the king established as
the rightful overlord of gods and men, a theme taken up by the song
chanted by the king’s attendants:

He follows Sokar, he drives off the rebel and has overthrown the foes of
his father so that he [Sokar-Osiris] gives the reward to his son whom he
loves, consisting of millions and myriads of years forever.

Here again the king stands at the crossroads of the ceremony as
the living symbol of abiding divine favor in the community.

Sokar’s circuit around the walls, then, was a feast of renewal
and reaffirmation: it re-emphasized the king’s role as the inter-

mediary between the human and divine orders, and it confirmed
for the community the latency of life within the earth at a par-
ticularly pregnant moment in the agricultural year. We know also,
from other sources, that Sokar paid a visit to a funerary shrine in
the Necropolis and that statues of deceased persons formed part
of his procession: the fertility of the earth and the promise of life
after death were thus linked in the rites of this festival.

The closing rites (held on the tenth day, and thus not shown at
Medinet Habu) consisted, fittingly enough, of the ritual “Erection
of the Djed Pillar,” marking the final burial of Osiris and his appear-
ance as king of the Netherworld; while on the next day, the first
in the sowing season, the succession of Horus to the earthly throne
was celebrated. Egyptian religious texts assure us that when the
Djed Pillar is raised for Osiris in the Temple of Sokar, Re rises as
Atum, the creator god, and he shines down on Sokar even as the
doors of the Netherworld are opened: the rightful order of things—
kingship and the harmony of nature — will endure (djed) for another
year.

The Feast of Min occupies the corresponding position on the
walls in the northern half of the court. It was celebrated on one day
only, and its arrival was tied to the first day of the lunar month
which began the harvest season. When the Calendar was inscribed
at Medinet Habu this date fell in mid-February, for the Egyptian
year of 365 days was shorter than the astronomical year by one-
quarter of a day and thus “lost” a day every four years. The three
seasons of the civil calendar, named “Inundation,” “Seed,” and
“Harvest” respectively, thus became purely formal terms that had
lost their original connection with the agricultural cycle. The dis-
crepancy did not unduly disturb the Egyptians, however, for merely
ritual correctness would set in motion the sympathetic magic which
they hoped this feast would generate. Charting the Min Feast’s
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lains and cupbearers of the palace™ are followed by two rows of
“officials: councillors and members of the army,” along with several
other royal sons. The two attendants who bring up the rear carry
what must be the steps that will permit the king to make a graceful
descent at the end of his journey.

The next episode (2) is held at the chapel of Min: if this was
located at Medinet Habu, it was probably in Room 46 (see below,
p. 65). At this time the chief lector priest, or the king if he was
present, performed “his rituals in the house of his father, Min:
a great sacrificial offering . . . consisting of bread, beer, oxen, fowl,
and every good thing.” Ramesses III is shown doing all this in the
presence of the god, whose statue is already mounted on carrying
poles in anticipation of the coming journey. As the spirit of exu-
berant procreation in nature, Min stands out among the gods of
Egypt in that he is portrayed sexually. His cult emblems, located
behind the statue, include a tubular “Nubian shrine” that has led
some scholars to speculate whether Min may not have been of
foreign extraction. The Libyan-style feathers worn by the members
of the procession discussed above may also point in the same direc-
tion. But Min’s cult in Egypt can be traced back to the very dawn
of civilization there, so these foreign elements have been explained
as reflecting his position as lord of the desert, and particularly of
the roads from the Red Sea that entered the Nile Valley near Min’s
home at Coptos. This territory was not always effectively controlled
by Egyptian rulers, and Min may have absorbed certain features
from the nomadic peoples who lived there.

The festival procession that follows (3) was apparently the high
point of the celebration, for it is often shown on temple walls in
isolation from other events in the feast. Min’s statue is borne aloft
(fig. 23), not enclosed in a shrine but in full view of everyone. His
carrying poles are draped with a red cloth worked with metal studs

and his attendants behind carry, on top, a screen and below, a chest
in which grow lettuces, which were regarded as aphrodisiacs in
ancient Egypt. The king, wearing the ancestral red crown, marches
in front and holds the pointed staff that is already familiar from the
Sokar Feast, “giving instructions” and acting as “festival leader.”
In front of him is the “White Bull,” probably representing one aspect
of Min, who is called “strong bull” and “bull of his mother”
{(meaning that he is his own creator).

The procession of Min was accompanied by a number of rituals
that are illustrated to the right of the main procession. A distinctive
feature of these rites is a series of ““mimed hymns,” the first of which
is read by the lector priest who is censing the king and the White
Bull “during the arising of Min in the doorway of the temple,”
and which reads in part:

Be exalted, O Min, my lord! Arise, O Min, my lord, for you are vindicated
in the presence of Ré-Atum!

The second mimed hymn begins immediately to the right of this
figure: a cloaked priest, identified as the “overseer of singers,”
ushers in a procession of the familiar “Followers of Horus,” other
divine standards and priests carrying ritual implements. Above the
overseer s the chief lector priest, while behind him stands Ramesses
ITI’s queen, who plays an unspecified part in the ritual. As with the
royal children, her name was never inscribed on the wall, although
a cartouche was carved to receive it. In this ritual the chief lector
priest and the overseer of singers jointly perform a very ancient
mimed hymn in honor of the god. The only complete copy in
existence is at Medinet Habu, and both the archaic language and
probable corruption of the text make it extremely difficult to
understand. In the main, it seems to be a celebration of Min’s
irresistible potency, as the following excerpts demonstrate:
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missions, and it is possible that exotic practices from abroad were
imported into Egypt along with the more tangible cargoes that
traveled along the desert roads into the god’s district.

At the very front of the procession, marching before “the gods
who are escorting this god [i.e., Min],” we see two rows of priests
carrying small statues: these are the royal ancestors, the statues of
“the kings, hereditary sovereigns and honored ones who are in his
escort.” There is reason to believe that all the kings who formed
part of Egypt’s historical tradition took part in this ceremony, but
only the more recent monarchs are shown here, and it is an officially
censored group at that. No Pharaohs of whom the Twentieth
Dynasty disapproved —Hatshepsut, the Amarna Pharaohs, and
three “usurpers” from the end of the Nineteenth Dynasty —are
shown here. The participation of the ancestors in the Min Feast
perhaps implies that the king was regarded in these rituals pre-
eminently as a member of the corporation of sovereigns, past and
present. If so, it is understandable that those rulers who had not
“lived by Ma‘at” in the official record would have been excluded.

The procession described above led to the first solemn moment
of the feast, the raising of Min to the dais. This episode is not shown
at Medinet Habu —perhaps it was a sacred mystery, not meant to
be seen at all —but the rites are described in the program text above
the scenes. These ceremonies included another sacrifice offered
by the king, ‘““while the White Bull is in front of his Majesty, and the
kings, hereditary sovereigns and honored ones are in the two
dynastic shrines on the right and on the left.” Scene 4 at Medinet
Habu shows instead the releasing of four doves which, according
to the program text, took place at the very end of the festival. The
contradictory arrangement of the scenes occurs not only here, but
at the Ramesseum, where a fragmentary copy of the Min Feast is
preserved. These earlier scenes were copied almost exactly by artists

of Ramesses III in Medinet Habu, and since we have reason to
believe that the Ramesseum artists deliberately rearranged the
episodes of the feast, we will discuss scene 4 later. Immediately to
the right, however, is the figure of a lector priest reciting the “Pan-
tomime of Min who resides in the Garden,” which was probably
performed after Min had been enthroned on the dais. The accom-
panying hymn is addressed to the composite deity, Min-R€, and
invokes the god:

Hail to you, O Min, who fecundates his mother!. . . . You have come forth
from the very great door, you stand upon the dais of Ma‘at and you give
commands together with your father, Osiris, from time to time.

With Min’s ascent to the dais, the most important rite of the
festival could take place:

Now comes the attendant-{priest]; he brings black copper chased with
gold —the sickle —and a sheaf of emmer, which are given to the king.

Scene 5 illustrates the next step (fig. 24): “Now the king cuts it
{ = the emmer] with the sickle in his hand, it [ = the emmer] being
put to his nose and then] placed before Min”; finally, “a wisp
from it is given to the king.” The queen, seen above, takes the part
of the “foreign woman” who “pronounces words seven times while
going around the king” —presumably while the central ritual was
going on. Since the Feast of Min was theoretically held at the be-
ginning of the harvest season, this symbolic cutting of a ripe sheaf
may have been an act of sympathetic magic designed to ensure a
good crop.

With the cutting of the emmer, also, Min himself underwent a
transformation that is reflected in the pantomime of the “foreleg-
and-horn-man.” This ritual, again, is not seen in the reliefs at
Medinet Habu, although the text of the hymn is inscribed on the
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which he had been given only after the emmer had been cut and
presented to Min (this detail is clearer in the Ramesseum, where the
drawing is less schematic than at Medinet Habu). In both versions,
however, is a detail that suggests why the scenes were rearranged
on the wall. To the right of the priest who holds the sheaf in scene 5,
another priest faces away, towards the dais. He is holding the freshly
cut grain, and the words above his head tell us that he is “laying the
emmer on the ground in the presence of this god.”” Had the scenes
been carved in their proper order, we should see (a) a figure of Min
on the dais, receiving the grain (presumably following the procession
of ancestral statues and the White Bull, to the right of the priest);
(b) the present scene 4, and (c) the present scene 6. The available
space allowed no room for all of this, however, so something had
to be sacrificed. It made no sense just to omit (a) from the linear
arrangement of scenes, for in that case the priest with the cut grain
would face, not Min, but the figure of the king in (b). Ritual require-
ments were evidently better served by transposing (b) to its present
position and having the priest face Min as represented in (c), at the
very end of the wall —in that way, (a) could be left out with no
loss of sense, for the priest would still be “laying the emmer on the
ground in the presence of this god™ as he appeared in scene 6.
The loss of continuity was apparently of lesser importance, especially
since the program text kept the rites in their proper order. This
solution, adopted for the Ramesseum, was transferred to Medinet
Habu when Ramesses III’s artists copied the earlier scenes for their
master’s mortuary temple.
After the king has gone around the dais,

two priests are made to advance, bearing the Spirits of the East which
are established in front of this god, their [ = the priests’] faces [turned]
back. Now the two tails are in the two priests’ hands —the “Drunkards”
they are called.

This is precisely what we see in scene 4: two figures, the “Earth-
dweller of Min” (top) and a “priest” (bottom), are bent in front of
two plumed standards, bulls’ tails in their hands, their faces turned
backwards. The Spirits of the East, mentioned several times in the
program text and in the mimed hymns, attend Min by virtue of his
association with the sun god. We have already seen him referred to
as “Min-Re€,” and his appearance in the temple doorway was ex-
pressed by a word that normally describes the sunrise. Min’s
renewal is thus infused with appropriate symbols from other myths:
he is seen as Horus, heir of Osiris, and as the rising sun in the east.

After the two priests have performed this ritual,

the king liberates the group of four geese (fig. 25)[ while] the lector priest
utters the words: “O Imsety (Hapy, Duamutef, Kebehsenuef), go to the
south (north, west, east) and tell the gods of the south (north, west, east)
that Horus, son of Isis and Osiris, has taken unto himself the double crown,
that the King of Upper and Lower Egypt, Ramesses III, has taken unto
himself the double crown.”

(The earlier version at the Ramesseum shows these birds as geese ;
at Medinet Habu, somehow, they have been rendered as doves.)
Min’s enthronement on the dais is now balanced (and to some extent
identified with) ceremonies that recall the king’s coronation, and
these rites are also part of his “reward” from the god: now that
Min’s rituals have been performed, the sons of Horus are dispatched
to the four corners of the horizon to confirm that the living Horus,
Ramesses I11, is (still} in possession of his throne, that the order of
Ma‘at prevails in the cosmos and in society. After this, the king
returns with the god to his chapel and presents the usual evening
sacrifice (6) to bring the festival to its appointed end.

Such, then, are the festal processions shown in the second court
at Medinet Habu—but the question remains, why these two?
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THE PORTICO

The portico, although structurally part of the second court, is
really a space unto itself. Beyond it lies the cult area of the temple
proper, and both the end walls and the west face are mostly occupied
by ritualistic scenes —the king offering flowers, cloth, incense etc.,
or performing ceremonies before various gods. Throughout these
scenes the king faces into the temple, towards the gods’ shrines, and
in many cases his actions crystallize the rites to be held there.

Adjoining the central doorway are balancing tableaux that
recall episodes of the king’s coronation. On the north side the king
is purified by Horus and Thoth (middle register), and he is presented
with kingship by Atum and his companion deities. The goddess
Seshat stands before the king and, suiting the action to her words,
tells him that

I am inscribing for you jubilees in myriads and years like the sands of
the sandbank. I am establishing your records in your august mansion
eternally, and I am granting that your titulary be established forever as

+ Rerises every day.

On the south side, Ramesses is led into the gods’ presence by
Montu and Atum and, as he is granted jubilees by the Theban
Triad, Thoth writes for him:

1 am granting that your mansion be like heaven with the sun’s disk,
your name being enduring on it.

Similar scenes are carved in back of these reliefs on the east wall
of the first hypostyle hall. We are not sure what ritual purpose was
served thereby, but the “mirror image” effect must have been
deliberate.
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The same arrangement is also found on the doorway proper,
where on both sides the king issues a warning to ail who enter
(or leave) the temple: “Be pure, be pure!” The figure on the portico
side was especially elaborate: the exposed parts of the body were
inlaid with red faience, the crown was blue, and the rest of the body
was brightly painted on gesso, while below there are seen drill
holes that must have held metal sheathing in place.

It is also on the west wall of the portico, on the register below the
scenes discussed above, that we find the famed Medinet Habu
procession of princes. This is actually somewhat of a misnomer,
for on the south side a few of the king’s daughters are shown as
well, but these are generally left out of the discussion because neither
their names nor their titles were inscribed. The interpretation of these
figures involves a scholarly debate that may never be resolved to
everyone’s satisfaction, so the following discussion necessarily
reflects this writer’s own views on what is likely.

The figures in each of the processions are marching into the
temple and face one another from across the central doorway.
When they were carved during Ramesses IIT’s reign, each one was
shown adoring a large, deeply cut cartouche (containing the king’s
name) that occupies the space between each of the figures. The first
three princes were plainly the most important, for their flowing
robes contrast with the simpler costume worn by the remaining
figures. It seems, however, that the princes received neither names
nor titles during Ramesses IIT’s lifetime, like the princes and the
queen in the Min Feast, who are similarly anonymous. Scholars
have proposed a number of explanations for this anomaly —that
Ramesses III did not have a family of suitable lineage while the
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belonged to a son of Ramesses III called Amenherkhepeshef. Both
Ramesses VI and this prince shared the same personal name, but
it is not certain that they were one and the same person. More puz-
zling is the first figure, who is called “King Ramesses” but is given
the titles once held by a Crown Prince Ramesses who apparently
predeceased his father. The real question is whether the additional
texts in the procession were inserted at one time or at several, and
this last position would be maintained by the scholars who argue
that “King Ramesses” was none other than Ramesses 1V, the
immediate successor of Ramesses III. This king might have wished
to hide his late arrival into the line of succession by claiming, at
least in the official record, titles held by an earlier crown prince,
but to assume that he did so at Medinet Habu involves postulating
that only one prince’s figure —the first —was inscribed at this time.
If, moreover, this is what happened, Ramesses I'V would have been
deprived of the propagandist benefits that would be his from depict-
ing himself within Ramesses III’s family, rather than as an isolated
and palpably later interloper.

Since the three premier princes are all decorated in the same style,
and since Ramesses VI appropriated, rather unusually, two figures
instead of one, it is tempting to explain this behavior in terms
of the most efficient use of available space: that is, three main
prince’s figures were uninscribed, and Ramesses VI allotted one to
his father, Prince and now, posthumously, “King” Ramesses (even
though he had never reigned), while retaining the other two figures
for himself and adding texts to seven other princes in the procession.

Even later, this retrospective list of Ramesses III’s sons was in-
vaded by yet another claimant, when Ramesses VIII converted the
fourth prince’s figure into that of a king (fig. 26). Unfortunately, the
guidelines had already been filled with prince’s titles by Ramesses
VI, so his successor had to squeeze his royal cartouches between
the earlier texts and figures as best he could. It is possible that in
Ramesses VIII we may have one of Ramesses III’s younger sons
who came to the throne —finally —about a quarter century after
his father’s death.
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THE OSIRIS COMPLEX

This suite, occupying the south wing of the temple opposite the
complex of Re-Harakhty, is much larger than its neighbor. Like
the solar complex, though, it is a unit apart from the rest of the
temple, and it is devoted to another aspect of the king’s hereafter:
his revival and coronation in the realm of Osiris, Chief of the
Westerners and Ruler of Eternity, the god par excellence of the dead.
Osiris was a relative latecomer to Egyptian religion-—the first
unambiguous reference to him coming towards the close of the
Fifth Dynasty —and his cult has absorbed a number of disparate
influences, notably from the theology of the sun god, Ré. The
Osirian afterlife had, nonetheless, its own particular character:
it was more individualized than the solar resurrection, broader in
its appeal. In relation to the ruler of Egypt, it laid stress on one
element that was missing from the other system —the king’s human-
ity.

The vestibule of the Osiris suite (Room 20) is one of the few
rooms to have been subdivided during the active life of the temple,
for a pair of small chambers (nos. 21 a and b) were added at the south
end by building crosswalls over the existing reliefs. The reason for
this new structure is unclear: Holscher proposed it might be a chapel
of Nefertem (see above, pp. 30-31) because this god is depicted on
two of the new walls; but the very low entrance through which the
visitor is obliged to crawl into Room 21 b could suggest that it was
a small treasury, housing precious cult objects pertaining to this
suite alone.

In any case, Room 20 as it was originally conceived depicted the
first stages in the king’s resurrection and his coronation in the
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other world. On the top register of the east wall (fig. 38) we see
Ramesses I1I enthroned, followed by a female personification of his
mortuary temple (right), facing a Tunmutef priest and a seated figure
of the god Thoth (left). Between these two pairs is an offering list, a
“menu’ of food, drink, and incense presented to the dead king —to
be supplied, perhaps, by the Nile gods of Upper and Lower Egypt,
who appear at the base of all the walls in this room, bringing their
produce .into Ramesses III’s temple. The main function of the
Iunmutef priest, however, is to perform the ceremony of “opening
the mouth” for the deceased ruler. This ritual, an indispensable
part of every funeral in ancient Egypt, theoretically enabled the
mummy to breathe, speak, and receive nourishment, and to this
end the deceased’s mouth was touched with an adze that symboli-
cally “opened” this orifice. In the words of the Iunmutef priest,

As Horus has tapped your mouth for you with a finger of [electrum],

[(and) as he has tapped the mouth of] his [father] Osiris therewith, in this
name of his, [“Sokar’’],

So have I tapped your mouth for you.

The next step, apparently, is seen on the south wall: the revived
king sits inside the sacred Ished Tree and receives jubilees from
Amon-Ré (right), while Thoth stands behind the king and writes
his name on the leaves of the tree (fig. 39). When Rooms 21 a-b
were added, this relief was adjusted, but it remained substantially
the same: the king’s figure was shifted to the right, so he now appears
kneeling outside the chamber, while Amon’s figure occupies the
interior of Room 21 b. The retention of this scene indicates its
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best preserved on the north side, is very low; this factor suggests
that the need for security played some part in the design. The very
existence of these rooms could be hidden more effectively than
the main Treasury —for while the relative width of the portico and
the first hypostyle would immediately reveal these rooms’ location,
it would not be so easy to gauge a discrepancy in the inner and outer
length of the temple from the inside. The reliefs in these rooms are
not distinctive —the king is seen offering various objects to gods who
appear in no particular order or groupings —but it would make sense
to interpret these back rooms as subsidiary magazines in which
valuable objects were kept.

“An ancient Egyptian temple,” the late American Egyptologist

John A. Wilson once observed, “is today a silent and lonely place.”
Few could fail to be struck, on walking through this building, by the
savage blows dealt to it by time and man, by the transformation of a
once vibrant establishment into a mute and empty monument.
The decay of earlier foundations could surely have warned Ramesses
I11, his contemporaries and successors that their memorials might
not last forever —yet, despite this nagging certainty, they continued
to build tombs and temples as personal guarantees of immortality.
The fates were kinder to Ramesses I1I than to most, for his temple
preserves a record of his deeds and aspirations that is hard to surpass
in the dilapidated remains that have come down to us from ancient

Egypt.
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THE SMALL TEMPLE

This building, dominating the northeast corner of the temple
compound, is a mélange of the earliest and latest construction found
at Medinet Habu. The temple proper, built in the mid-Eighteenth
Dynasty, was already present, as we have seen, when Ramesses 111
began work at the site. Underneath its foundations, however,
archaeologists found traces of an even older structure that goes back
at least to the earlier Eighteenth Dynasty and perhaps even to the
Middle Kingdom. The rites celebrated here, then, were probably
of considerable antiquity and, since they were not tied to the memory
of any one king, it is not surprising that they survived long after
Ramesses II’s mortuary cult had disappeared. Texts inscribed
during the late period (Dynasties Twenty-Five to Thirty) tell us that
the Amon worshipped in this temple was associated with a group of
eight primeval creator gods known as the Ogdoad —four pairs of
male and female deities who figured in the creation myth of Her-
mopolis in Middle Egypt. “Everything beneficial was created in
their time,” it is said of them:

Divine Harmony [ Ma‘at] came down to earth in their time and fater-
nized with the gods. Provisions were overflowing in the bellies of mankind,
and there was no wickedness iri the presence of the land. No crocodile
seized, and snakes failed to bite in the time of the[se] primeval gods.

Although the Ogdoad exercised its creative activity in different
parts of Egypt, it finally came to rest in the small temple, “the
Genuine Mound of the West,” which was considered its burial
place.

Amon’s relation with this group was a complex one, involving
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no fewer than four generations in which the god, in different forms,
was manifest. To begin with, he was identified with (1) the Kematef
(“Who Completes his Moment” = “Twinkling of an Eye”) Serpent,
also known as “the Great Ba of Osiris who is buried in the Mound
of Djamu [ = Medinet Habu].” As such, he is called the “Forefather
of the Ogdoad” and is specifically the father of (2) the “Earth-
Maker” Serpent, the actual creator of the world, who was also
identified with Amendpe, the god of the Luxor Temple, who
“fashioned the Ogdoad in Southern Opet [ = Luxor] and rests in
their Cemetery [or “Underworld””] in the Mound of Djamu.”
This act of creation involved Amon in fashioning himself, for he was
next assimilated into the ranks of the Ogdoad (3) in his province
of Thebes, and he appears for the last time as “Amenope 11”7 (4),
called “Horus, Son of Isis” who, as the heir of the Ogdoad, resides
in Djamu, presumably to start the cycle once more.

The rites that accompanied these transformations occurred in
ten-day cycles, when Amon “shows himself in [i.e., leaves] Opet
at the beginning of every ten-day period, so that he might be seen
as King of the Gods; crossing in peace to the west of Thebes in
order to present offerings to the [Kematlef Serpent and to offer
libation to the ‘Fathers’ and ‘[Mother]s’” (in Egyptian, tchau-
miwe, a pun on the name, “Djamu”). Another text emphasizes
that Amon travels from Luxor to West Thebes every ten days
“to see his father in the company of his children, who came into
being from his limbs.” These visits are obliquely referred to by
several Pharaohs of the New Kingdom, although the practice itself
is first mentioned only by Ramesses II (1279-1213 B.C.), long after
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THE SAITE CHAPELS

The northeast corner of Ramesses IIT’s enclosure has very little
to attract a visitor. A sacred lake, probably built during Ptolemaic
times, is found in this quarter, and further west is a “Nilometer”
(a well with a passage leading down to the water Ievel) built by
Nectanebo I (see fig. 3). North of the small temple’s columned hall
is a gateway of Taharga (his names erased) which originally cut
through the mudbrick wall that replaced the Ramesside enclosure
during the Twenty-Fifth Dynasty (fig. 65). A similar gate erected
under Domitian was later built into a Roman extension of this wall,
near the southeast corner of Ramesses III’s temple, but it was dis-
mantled for reuse in the Coptic town and rebuilt later, in the wrong
place, northwest of the small temple. Depending on whether the
visitor leaves this temple via the Thutmoside ambulatory or from
the columned hall further east, he will pass (on the south side)
either another doorway built by Nectanebo I or an uninscribed
gate pushed through the Ptolemaic enclosure wall.

Directly opposite the small temple, between the High Gate and
the Ramesside temple, are two small buildings which are all that
remain of a row of four chapels built here between the eighth and
sixth centuries B.C. for the “God’s Wives of Amon.” These ladies,
known also as “Divine Votaresses,” played an important part in
the political life of the Thebaid when it was virtually an independent
state: on a formal level, the votaresses were Amon’s living consorts
and dwelt, unmarried to mortal husbands, in ceremonial splendor.
More practically, though, they were the representatives of the royal
power, accepted by the Theban hierarchy as visible symbols of their
loyalty to the kings who resided in the north. Real power was wielded
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by the Theban notables, whose civil authority was sometimes
cloaked by surprisingly minor positions in the priesthood of Amon,
and the divine votaresses “ruled” as mere figureheads at the head
of a divine state whose actual “‘king” was Amon-Ré€, King of the
Gods.

The four chapels, which are both mausoleums and mortuary
shrines, were built in a row, progressing one after the other from
the east to the west across the centuries (fig. 67). The earliest be-
longed to Shepenwepet 1, who was appointed to the office by her
father, Osorkon 111, during the last years of Theban independence
from Nubian control (c. 754 B.C.). Almost nothing is left of the
building’s superstructure, but a shaft on the east side descends into
the vaulted stone chambers where the divine votaress and members
of her family were buried. Immediately to the west, however, is the
well-preserved chapel of Amenardis I, a daughter of the Nubian
King Kashta, whom Shepenwepet was obliged to adopt as her
successor when Thebes lost its independence (c. 740 B.C.). This
chapel was not built by Amenardis herself, however, but by her
niece, Shepenwepet II, whom King Piankhy installed as his sister’s
heiress at Thebes in 710 B.C.

The chapel of Amenardis communicated with the earlier building
of Shepenwepet 1 by a doorway through its east wall, but most
visitors will enter through the main entrance on the north side.
On the lintel above the doorway is an “Appeal to the Living” (also
found at the entrances of the neighboring chapels to the west)
that proceeds as follows:



oi.uchicago.edu



oi.uchicago.edu



oi.uchicago.edu



oi.uchicago.edu

EPILOGUE

Medinet Habu is no more than a tourist attraction today. It has
long since stopped functioning in any of its past roles as fortress,
shrine, or administrative headquarters. Yet, with imagination, the
place can fleetingly live again. Here, in the city of the dead, silent
with the memories of over five millennia, we can re-create the bustle
of a living community of priests, workmen, and officials, whose
everyday transactions, preserved in the surviving ostraca and papyri,
speak to us today with a refreshing and poignant directness. Seen
through these eyes, the mazes of magazines and ateliers, courts and
cult rooms cease being mute relics of a dead society, but for a
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moment recapture the vibrancy of this ancient people and their
trust in the divine. The lofty halls and hidden sanctuaries lose some
of their remoteness as they reflect the ties —sometimes amazingly
familiar —that existed between these people and their gods. The
ancient Egyptians have been accused of an obsession with ritual
and death, and this popular notion (despite much evidence to the
contrary) is not easily quelled. But the student who wishes to go
beyond this fagade, to discern meaning in the forms of an ancient
civilization, can do no better than to stay a while at the cross section
of ancient history that is found here, at Medinet Habu.
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CAPSULE CHRONOLOGY

. 3100-2686 B.C. Early Dynastic Period (Dynasties I-1I) c. 1125-1123 B.C. Ramesses VIII
. 26862181 B.C. Old Kingdom (Dynasties I1I-VI) c. 1100-710 B.C. Third Intermediate Period (Dynasties XXI-
. 2181-2040 B.C. First Intermediate Period (Dynasties VII-X) XX1vV
. 2040-1786 B.C. Middle Kingdom (Dynasties XI-XII) c. 1070-1055 B.C. Pinudjem I (High Priest)
. 1786-1570 B.C. Second Intermediate Period (Dynasties ¢. 1054-1032 B.C. Pinudjem I (King)
XIII-XVIT) ¢. 777-749 B.C. Osorkon I1I
. 1570-1100 B.C. New Kingdom (Dynasties X VIII-XX) c. 790-664 B.C. Nubian Domination (Dynasty XXV)
1504-1450 B.C. Thutmose III (Dynasty X VIII) ¢. 769-756 B.C. Kashta
c. 1498-1484 B.C. Hatshepsut c. 756-716 B.C. Piankhy (Piye)
¢. 1378-1340 B.C. Amenhotep III 690-664 B.C. Taharga
c. 1340-1319 B.C. The “Amarna Period” 664-525 B.C. Saite Revival (Dynasty XXVI)
¢. 1319-1292 B.C. Horemheb 664-610 B.C. Psamtik 1
12791212 B.C. Ramesses II (Dynasty XIX) 595-589 B.C. Psamtik I1
c. 1212-1203 B.C. Merneptah 525-332 B.C. Late Period (Dynasties XX VII-XXX)
c. 1184-1182 B.C. Sethnakht (Dynasty XX) 393-380 B.C. Hakoris (Dynasty XXIX)
c. 1182-1151 B.C. Ramesses III 380-363 B.C. Nectanebo I (Dynasty XXX)
c. 1151-1144 B.C. Ramesses IV 332-30 B.C. Macedonian Domination (Ptolemiac Dynasty)
¢. 1139-1132 B.C. Ramesses VI 30 B.C.-641 A.D. Roman (later Byzantine) Domination
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